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UNITED STAT ES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO
EASTERN DIV ISION

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Case N0.1:09CV02712

THE DEBT ADVOCACY CENTER, LLC,
a limited liabiliy company

Judge Christopher A. Byko

SMITH, GROMAN N & DAVIDSON, P.A,,

CREDITLAWGROUP , an Interstate
Partnership of Professbnal Assaiations, a
Floridageneal patnership formdy known as
Smih & Gromann.an Inter state Partner ship
of Frofessbnal Assaiations and doing
busness & Smth & Gromann, P.A.,

CREDIT SERVICES ALLIANCE, INC.,
a coporation

EDWARD J. DAVIDSON,
individuallyand as ChieExecutive Gficer of
The Dét Advocag Center, ILC and as an
ownerof Smith, Gromann & Bvidson, P.A.,
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JOHN W. SMITH,
individually and as a ownerof Smith,
Gromann &avidson, P.A., and
CreditlawGroup,

GLENN E. GROMANN,
individually and as a ownerof Smith,
Gromann &Davidson, P.A., and
CreditlawGroup,

KEVIN M CCORMIC K,
individually,

BRADFORD R. GEISEN,
individuallyand the owneand a officer of
Credit Servicg Alliance, hc.,

MAURICE JACKSON,
indvidualy and as an dfficer of Credit
Servics Alliance, hc., and

PATRICK BUTLER,
individually.

Defendants

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR P ERMANENT
INJUNCTION AND OTHER EQUITA BLE RELIEF

Plaintiff, the Felerd TradeCommssion (“FT'C” or “Commgsion”), forits Conplaint
aleges:

1. The HC brings this action under Sten 13(b) of the Ederl Trade Commissin
Act (“FTC Ad"), 15 U.S.C. 88 53(b), to obtain temporapreliminary and pemanent
injunctive relief resgssion or refomation of contrets, restitution, the rahd of monies paid,

disgorgement o ill-gotten maies, and other equitable reief for Defendants acts a practices in
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violation of Section 5(apf the HC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), iroanection with the méeting
and sde of mortgage loan mdlification and foreclosure relief services.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction purgua 28 U.S.C88 1331, 1337(a)
and 1345, and 15.8.C. 88 45(a) and 33

3. Venueis prope in this District under 28 U.SC. §1391(b) and (c), and 15U.S.C.
8 53(b).

PLAINTIFF

4, Plaintiff FTC is an indepelent agncyof the United States Gonvenent ceatel
by statute. 15 U.S.C. § &t seq The FTC enforces Se&tion 5a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.SC.
8 45(a) which prohibits unfair odecetive acts or mctices in or afectingcommere.

5. The HC is authorized to itiate federd district court procedings, byits own
attorne, to enjoin violations of the FTC Acthato secursuch equitableelief as maybe
appropiate in eah cae, includingesaession or refomation of contrats, restitution, the rahd
of monies paid, and thdisgogement of ill-gotten monies. 15 U.S.C. 88 53(b), 5623(A),
56(a)2)(B), and 57b.

DEFENDANTS

6. Defendant Théebt AdvoacyCenter, ILC (DAC), is a D&aware limited
liability companywith its principal place obusiness located 814 W. Siperior Ave., Suite 815,
Cleveland, Ohio 441131t has also used theldress 14000 Militaryrail, Suite 200, Delxa
Beach, Rorida 33484. Dfendant DAC transats or has transéed business in this District and

throughout the United States.
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7. Defendant Smith, Gromann, Ravidson, P.A. (SGR), purpots to be a
“partnership of progssional assodians.” On information and tief, SG&D has no famal
legal statusin any stde. Its grindpa place of business b located & 614 W. Sugerior Ave., Sute
815, Cleveland, Ohio 44113t dIso uses the ades 14000 Militaryfrail, Suite 200, Delra
Beach, Rorida 33484. Dfendant SG&D transacts or hatransaied business in this Dratt and
throughout the United States.

8. Defendant CrditLawGroup (CLG) is an hterstate Pamership of Profesional
Associations, formdy known as Smith & Gronm, an hterstate Panership of Profgsional
Associations, doinfpusiness as Smith & Gromann, P.A.f&alat CLG is a Forida geneal
partneship owned, diretly or indiredly, by Defendants John WEmith and Glenn EGromann.
Its principal plac®f business is at 1095 &@en Sound ParkwaSuite 201, Boc&aton, Florida
33487. Deéndant CIG sold loan modification anafedosure réief sewices, includingout not
limited toloan madifications forendc audits, short sdes and foreclosure ddense, to
homeowners throughout the United Sttes. Defendant CLG transacts a has transacted busness
in this Distict and througout the United States. [Efdant CIG filed for bankruptg in the
United States B&ruptcyCourt for the SoutherniBtrict of Floridaon April 23, 2010 (Cased\
10-20824 - EPK). he instant aon aginst CLG is not stagd byl1l U.S.C. § 362(a)(1]2),
(3), or(6) becausst is an action broug bythe FTC to enfore the HC’s police andegulatory
poweras a gvernmatal unit pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 362(b)(A¥athus, falls within an
exception to the automatic stay

9. Defendant Crdit Services Alliancglnc. (CSA), is a lerida coporation ownd,

diredly or indiredly, by Defendant Badford R. Geisen.t$ principal placef business is at
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2201 N.W. Corporatelgd., Suie 200, Bca R#on, Florida 33431. Tlugh Defendant CIG,
CSA transacts or Baransated business in this drgct and throufout the United States.
Defendant CSA filed fobankruptyg in the United States BaruptcyCourt for the Southern
District of Horida on Deembe 1, 2009 (Cas®&l0.09-36556 EPK). Thdankruptcycases now
closed.

10. Defendant Edwrd J. Davidson (Davidson), is orshiaeen a owner manaer,
officer or director of DAC and SG&D. Davidsm isan dtorney whose registered busness
address 5 PO. Box 1206, Ridgefield, Comecticut 06877. At times mderial to this Canplaint,
acting done or in concert with athers, he has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority
to control, or pdicipated in the a@s and pratices of DAC and SG&D including theacts ad
pradices set fah in thisComplaint. Defend& Davidson, in conndéion with the matters
alleged heein, transats or has tmasacté business in this Digct and througout the United
States.

11. Defendant John WSmith (Smith) is an owner, magexr, oficer or director of
SG&D and, d@ther directly orindirectly, of CLG. Smith isan atorney whose current busness
address 5 1095 Broken Saund Pakway, Sute 201, Boca Raon, Horida 33487. Hehas dso
used the @dresss of 2201 N.W. CorporatedBlevad, Suite 200, BocRaton, Florida 33431
and 5295 Town Center Road, Sute 201, Boca Raon, Horida 33486. At times maerial to this
Complaint, acting lane or in conert with others, hdas fomulated, direted, controlled, hé
the authorityto control, or pdicipated in the a@s and pratices of SG& and CIG, including

the ats and pratices set fah in thisComplaint. Defenda& Smith, in connection with the
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matters allegd heein, transats or has trasacte business in this Disct and throufout the
United States.

12. Defendant Glan E. GromannGromann)is an ownermanagr, oficer or
director of SG&D and, dther directly orindirectly, of CLG. Gromannis an atorney whose
current business addsg is 1095 Broke Sound ParkwagySuite 201, Boc&aton, Florida 33487.
He ha also used theddresse of 2201 N.W. Corporatedilevad, Suite 200, BocRaton,
Florida33431 and 5295 Town CentRoad, Suite 201, BacRaton, forida 33486. Attimes
materid to this Complaint, actinglane or in conert with others, haas fomulated, direted,
controlled, hd the authorityto control, or parcipated in the a@s and pratices of SG& and

CL



owne of CSA and afinander of CLG. At times maerial to this Canplaint, acting done or in
concet with others, he raformulated, direted, ontrolled, had thewthority to control, or
paticipated in theacts and practices d CLG and CSA, including theacts and practices sé forth
in this Conplaint. Defendant Geisen, in connection with thematers dleged herein, transacts
and has transacted busness n this District and throughout the United Setes.

15. Defendant Marice Jackson Jackson)is a residet of Floridaand is curently the
Vice President of Opeations of CSA. At various times, he alsaescon beh&of CLG and
swpevised its sdes force. At times maderial to this Canplaint, acting aone or in concert with
others, he haformulated, direted, ontrolled, had thewthority to control, or paicipated in the
acts ad pratices of CIG and CSA, includinghe ats and pratices set fah in thisComplaint.
Defendant Jackson, in contien with the matters alleggl heein, transats and ha transaied
business n this District and throughout the United Sttes.

e
16. Defendant Patrics101.0.000 8
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DEFENDANTS’ BUSINESS PRACTICES - DAC AND SG&D

19. Together, DAC, SG&D, Davidson, McCormick, Smith, and Gromann will be
referred to as the “DAC Defendants.”

20.  Since at least November 2007 until approximately November 2009, acting alone
or in concert with others, DAC advertised, marketed, offered for sale, or sold loan modification
and foreclosure relief services to consumers throughout the United States. In or around August
2009, DAC renamed itself SG&D and since that time has advertised, marketed, offered for sale,
or sold those same services to consumers throughout the United States.

21. From at least January 1, 2008, and until the filing of the original Complaint
herein, DAC and later, SG&D, engaged in a course of conduct to advertise, market, offer to sell,
and sell to consumers mortgage loan modification and foreclosure relief services. The DAC
Defendants marketed the services through Internet websites, including

www.thedebtadvocacycenter.cpoagdandd.corandwww.foreclosurefish.conto homeowners

who were behind in their mortgage payments or who were in danger of losing their homes to
foreclosure.

22.  The DAC Defendants’ websites contained statements intended to induce
consumers to purchase mortgage loan modification and foreclosure relief services, including the
following:

a. MODIFY YOUR LOAN PAYMENTS TO WHAT YOU DESIRE
OR WE PAY YOU!

b. At the Debt Advocacy Center we can help you stop foreclosure
and keep your home, with a much lower payment and, often, a fixed interest rate.

C. .. . we have penetrated the Senior levels of most servicers and
have negotiators for the lender, generally unavailable to the public.


http://www.thedebtadvocacycenter.com
http://www.sgdandd.com
http://www.foreclosurefish.com.

d. How ceatain ae we? Forour negtiation service, ifve do not
obtain the payent your haveageel you can #ord we pg you a penlty of a
minimum of $1500 or more

e If you are facing foreclosure, or don't know how you're going to
make future payments then it's time to act now. Don’t miss at on this chance to
get amodfied payment, without needing pefect credit to refinance. Thisis ot a
refinance, it's aloan malification and we're seeing same of thelowest interest
rates ever. Thelenders aretired of losng morey and, with a properly
underwitten plan proposeto the ridnt negtiator, theyre makingunhead of
deals on loan modificeons. We havespecidarrangements with 90% of thp
lendes, so if yu can #ord a newlower pament, we an gt you approvd for
our program today! Theseoptionsmay na last forever, sopleaseact while hdp

refr. Thelnpr

-10 -
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numerous instansethe consultants stated that the®Befendants had aucces rate obver
90% in obtainingsatisfatory loan modifications. A numerous instansethe consultants stated
that the DAC D&ndants had speciaelationships with mortgge lendes and/or sevicers that
enablel them to arnage loan modificions where othes could not. n numerous instansethe
DAC Defendants’ onsultants stated that if theyere unableo obtain a loan modifi¢ceon for

the consumerthe consumewould re@ive theirmoneyback ad/or reeive apenaltypayment of
at least $1500.

25, In numeousingances, theDAC Defendants consutantstold consumerstha a
lawyer would be workingon their cae and thiatheywere a eputable ifm whose ownehad ties
to prominent politicians and government dfficials.

26. In rumeousingances, the DAC Defendants consutants oltained consumers
bank acount or cedit cad informdion bytelling mnsumers that these@unts or edit cads
would not be debited arthaged, but that the infornti@n was neded bebre acontrat could be
sent for eview. Then, in numerous instaes, the DA Defendants debited theoosumer’s
acount for its feeaven thoup it had no conti@ or aithorization.

27. Those consume who did sig the DAC Déendants’ contr&ts paid an ugront
feeof $1500. Some paid additional fee 0f$1500. h numerous instansegthe DAC
Defendantstold consumers who engaged their sevices tostg m&ing thar mortgage payments

28.  In numerous instansethe DAC Deéndants féed to obtain the promised
mortgage loan modificéions that would make consursémortgage paynents more &brdable.
In numerous instansethe DAC Degndants providteconsumers do-it-yourself kit contaning

“educationd materials” about how consumers stould act when the consumers attempt to

-11 -



Case: 1:09-cv-02712-CAB Doc #: 194 Filed: 03/07/12 12 of 20. PagelD #: 2397



34.

-13-
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audit. h fad, the forasic loan audit waunlikelyto find violations that provide sufficient
leverage to obtain a swesstil loan modification.

38. Some consumers whomtratced with the CIG Defendants wated to negtiate a
short sde as an dternative to foreclosure. A short sde is asde of thehouse for an anount less
than the renaining motgage balace ad requirs the ageement of the mortgge holder The
CLG Defendants’ epresentatives told consumers tlaaforensic loan audit wainecssaryto give
them leverage in the short sde process,and tha, with swch leverage, they were likely to
complete ashort sale. They charged consumers $995 up front for the forensic loan audit. In
fact, the forensc loan audit was wnlikely to find violationstha provide leverage in short sde
negotiations

39. The CLG Defendants halittle sucess in obtaining laamodifications or short
sdes for its clients In the spring of 2009, the CLG Defendantstumed over a least 400 of its
loan madification and short sde files toDefendant DAC under agreementstha required DAC to
attemptto dotan theloan mdificationsand short sdes and sdit any resuting success tes with
the CLG Defendants. Th€LG Defendants did not attempt to obtain its clients’ conserdrbef
tuming thar files over to DAC.

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT

40. Seaction 5@) of the FTC Act, 15 U.SC. §454@), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts
or practices in or #ecting commere.”

41. Misrepresentations or deptive omissions of materialdiaconstitute desptive

acts a practices prohibited by Section 5@) of the FTC Act.

-14 -
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42.  Acts or pactices areunfair unde Section 5 of the FC Act if theycauseor ae
likely to causesubstantial injuryo consumers thabasumers aanot regonablyavoid and that
is not outweighe by countevailing benefits to consumers @ompetition. 15 U.S.C. § 45(n).

COUNT |

43. In numerous instansein connetton with the advertisingmarkeing, promotion,
offering for sde, or saleof mortgage loan modificion or forelosure escueservice, the DAC
Defendants hee represeted, diredy or indiredly, expresshor byimplication, that the DAC
Defendants will obtain for consume's moitgage loan madifications, in dl or virtudly dl
instances, that will make tinenortgage paynents substantiallgnore dfordable.

44, In truth and in fact, the DAC Defendarts do not obtain for consumers mortgage
loan mddifications, in dl or virtudly dl ingances, tha will me&e thar moitgage payments
substantiallymore d&ordable.

45.  Therefore, the DAC Defendants representdion as sé forth in Paagraph 43is
false ad misleadingand constitutes a deptive at or prattice in violation of Seton 5(a) ofthe
FTC Ad, 15 U.S. C. 8§ 45(a).

COUNT Il

46. In numerous instansein connetton with the advertisingmarkeing, promotion,
offering for sde, or saleof mortgage loan modifiction or forelosure escueservice, the DAC
Defendants hee regpresated, diredy or indiredly, expresslyr byimplication, that theyave
helped ove90% oftheir clients obtain a mtwage loan modificdon.

47.  Intruth and in fai; the materibrepresentation set forth in pagraph 44 is fese or

was not substantiated the time the re@sentéion was made.

-15 -



48.  Therefore, the making of therepresentaion as sé forth in Paagraph 46 of this
Ctmplaint cafistitieg a deeptive at or pratice, in oraffectingcommere in violation of
Section 5(apf the HC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

COUNT I1'l

49.  In numerous instansein connetton with the advertisingmarkeing, promotion,
offering for sde, or saleof mortgage loan modificion or forelosure escueservice, the DAC
Defendants hee represated, diredy or indiredly, expresshor byimplication, that if theyare
unsuccssful at arangng aloan modification or othefioreclosure elief for a @nsumer, the
DAC Defendants will refund the consumers money and/or pay a penalty.

50. Intruth and in fag in numerous instances, thé&D Defendants haveot given
refunds or paid a pelty to consumers fowvhom theyfailed to obtain doan modification or
other foeclosurerelief.

51 Therefore, the DA

ti0 0.00 BTHHSHIR4EROABDIIIED CEFTR (NG ZRRMS0NIDD. TOBE0M) T (36000 Q. qO)Tj TR



54.  Therdore, the DAC Déendants’ pradice as dscribed in Pagaph 52 hove
constitutes an unilaac or pratice in violation of Section 5 of theTle Act, 15 U.S.C. 88§ 45(a)
and 45(n)

COUNT V

55.  In numerous instansgein connetion with the advertisingmarkeing, promotion,
offering for sale, or sale of mortgage loan modification or foreclosure rescue services, the CLG
Defendants have represented, directly or indirectly, expressly or by implication, tha as aresut
of forengc loan audits of consumers mortgage loan documentstha the CLG Defendants
perform, consume's generadly would oltain (2) mortgage loan mdlificationstha will meke thar
mortgage payments subgantially more aff ordeble or (b) comgeted short sdes.

56. In truth ard in fact, asa reault of forensic loan audits of consumers’ mortgage
loan documents that the GLDefendants pdorm, consumers did noegeally obtain (a)
mortgage loan modificiions that willmake theimortgage paynents substantiallgnore
affordable or (b) comdeted short sdes.

57. Therefore, the CLG Defendants representdion as sé forth in Paagraph 55is

false ad misleadingand constitutes a de

-17 -
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THIS COURT' S POWER TO GRANT RELIEF
59.  Section 13(b) othe FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 53(b), emporgethis Court to gnat
injunctive and swch ather relief as the Cout may deem gopropriate to helt and redress volations
of any provision of law enforced by the FTC. The Court, in theexercise of its eguitable
jurisdiction, may award andll ary rdief, induding resasson or reformation o contracts,
restitution, the refund ahonies paid, and the dsgement of ill-gptten monies, to prevenha

remedy any violation of any provision of law enforced by the FTC.

-18 -
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Award Plaintiff the costs of bringg this ation, as well as such othand

additional reliefas the Court magtetemine to be just and proper

Date:

Respectilly submited,

WILLARD K. ToMm, GeneralCounsel
Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C.

JON MILLER STEIGER
Director, East Central Region
Fedea Trade Commission

MICHAEL B. ROSE (Penrsylvania Bar #52954)
MICHAEL MILGROM (Ohio Ba #0012%9)
M ARIA DEL M ONACO (Ohio Bar #006730)
Fedea Trade Commission

1111 Supeior Avenue Suite 200

Cleveland, Ohio 44114

(216) 263-3412 (Rose)

(216) 263-3419 (Milgrom)

(216) 263-3405(Del Moneco)

(216) 263-3426 (Fax)

mrose@ftc.gov

mmilgrom@ftc.gov

mdemoneaco @ftc.gov

Attorneys forPlaintiff

FEDERAL TRADE COMMI SSION

-19 -



Case: 1:09-cv-02712-CAB Doc #: 194 Filed: 03/07/12 20 of 20. PagelD #: 2405

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
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